
 

 
County Hall, New Road, Oxford, OX1 1ND 

www.oxfordshire.gov.uk  Media Enquiries 01865 323870 
 

 
 
 

 
To: Members of the Pension Fund Committee 

 

Notice of a Meeting of the Pension Fund Committee 
 

Friday, 12 November 2021 at 10.00 am 
 

Council Chamber - County Hall, New Road, Oxford OX1 1ND 
 

Please note that Council meetings are currently taking place in-person (not virtually) with 
social distancing at the venue.  Meetings will continue to be live-streamed and those who 

wish to view them are strongly encouraged to do so online to minimise the risk of covid-
19 infection. 
 

If you wish to view proceedings, please click on Live Link to meeting 
 

However, that will not allow you to participate in the meeting. 
 
Places at the meetings are very limited due to the requirements of social distancing.  If 

you still wish to attend this meeting in person, you must contact 
khalid.ahmed@oxfordshire,gov.uk by 9am four working days before the meeting and he 

will advise if you can be accommodated at this meeting and of the detailed Covid-19 
safety requirements for all attendees. 
 

 

Membership 

Voting Members of Oxfordshire County Council – Councillors Kevin Bulmer (Vice-Chair), 
Imade Edosomwan, Nick Field Johnson, Bob Johnston (Chair) and Richard Webber 

 
Non-voting Members of the Academy sector – Ms Shelley Cook and Mr Alan Staniforth  

 
Non-voting Scheme Member Representative - Mr Steve Moran  
 

Non-voting Member of Oxford Brookes University – Mr Alistair Fitt 
 

Non-voting Member of District Councils – Councillor Jo Robb 

 
Yvonne Rees  

Chief Executive 3 November 2021 
  
Scrutiny Officer: Khalid Ahmed 

Tel: 07990 368048; E-Mail: khalid.ahmed@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/
mailto::@videolink%20to%20meeting,%20https://oxon.cc/PFC12112021


 

 
Notes: 
 

• Date of next meeting: 3 December 2021 
 



 

 

 

Declarations of Interest 
 
The duty to declare….. 

Under the Localism Act 2011 it is a criminal offence to 
(a) fail to register a disclosable pecuniary interest within 28 days of election or co-option (or re-

election or re-appointment), or 
(b) provide false or misleading information on registration, or 
(c) participate in discussion or voting in a meeting on a matter in which the member or co-opted 

member has a disclosable pecuniary interest. 

Whose Interests must be included? 

The Act provides that the interests which must be notified are those of a member or co-opted 
member of the authority, or 

 those of a spouse or civil partner of the member or co-opted member; 

 those of a person with whom the member or co-opted member is living as husband/wife 
 those of a person with whom the member or co-opted member is living as if they were civil 

partners. 
(in each case where the member or co-opted member is aware that the other person has the 
interest). 

What if I remember that I have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest during the Meeting?. 

The Code requires that, at a meeting, where a member or co-opted member has a disclosable 
interest (of which they are aware) in any matter being considered, they disclose that interest to 
the meeting. The Council will continue to include an appropriate item on agendas for all 
meetings, to facilitate this. 

Although not explicitly required by the legislation or by the code, it is recommended that in the 
interests of transparency and for the benefit of all in attendance at the meeting (including 
members of the public) the nature as well as the existence of the interest is disclosed. 

A member or co-opted member who has disclosed a pecuniary interest at a meeting must not 
participate (or participate further) in any discussion of the matter; and must not participate in any 
vote or further vote taken; and must withdraw from the room. 

Members are asked to continue to pay regard to the following provisions in the code that “You 
must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an advantage or 
disadvantage on any person including yourself” or “You must not place yourself in situations 
where your honesty and integrity may be questioned…..”. 

Please seek advice from the Monitoring Officer prior to the meeting should you have any doubt 
about your approach. 

List of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests: 
Employment (includes“any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain”.), Sponsorship, Contracts, Land, Licences, Corporate Tenancies, Securities. 

 
For a full list of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and further Guidance on this matter please see 
the Guide to the New Code of Conduct and Register of Interests at Members’ conduct guidelines. 
http://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/wps/wcm/connect/occ/Insite/Elected+members/ or contact 
Glenn Watson on 07776 997946 or glenn.watson@oxfordshire.gov.uk for a hard copy of the 

document.  

 

 

If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of 
these papers or special access facilities) please contact the officer 
named on the front page, but please give as much notice as possible 
before the meeting. 

http://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/wps/wcm/connect/occ/Insite/Elected+members/
mailto:glenn.watson@oxfordshire.gov.uk


 

 

 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. Apologies for Absence and Temporary Appointments  
 

2. Declarations of Interest - see guidance note  
 

3. Petitions and Public Address  
 

4. Age Discrimination Cases in the Firefighters Pension Scheme (Pages 
1 - 6) 

  

The Committee is RECOMMENDED to note the latest legal position on the age 
discrimination cases in the firefighters’ pension schemes and adopt the Immediate 
Detriment Framework as published by the Local Government Association and Fire 

Brigades Union. 
 

 



 

Division(s): n/a 

 

ITEM 
 

PENSION FUND COMMITTEE – 12 NOVEMBER 2021 
 

AGE DISCRIMINATION CASES IN THE FIREFIGHTERS PENSION 
SCHEME 

 
Report by the Director of Law and Governance, the Director of Finance and the 

Chief Fire Officer 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
1. The Committee is RECOMMENDED to note the latest legal position on the 

age discrimination cases in the firefighters’ pension schemes and adopt 
the Immediate Detriment Framework as published by the Local 
Government Association and Fire Brigades Union.  
 
Introduction  

 
2. As reported to the June meeting of this Committee, there have been a number 

of legal challenges to Fire and Rescue Authorities across the Country, 
supported by the Fire Brigades Union (FBU) in respect of the failure of the 
authorities to address the age discrimination resulting from the Government’s 
changes to the firefighters’ pension schemes.  The June report set out a number 
of complex issues involved in addressing the discrimination in advance of the 
Government passing new legislation but indicated that the Local Government 
Association (LGA) and the FBU were working to develop a framework which 
would enable decisions to be made in advance of the new legislation.   

 
3. The Committee agreed to hold a special meeting to be attended by the Council’s 

Monitoring Officer once the framework had been published.  On 8 October 2021 
the LGA and FBU published a joint letter and a Memorandum of Understanding 
and Framework, setting out the agreed way forward until the implementation of 
new legislation.  Each Fire and Rescue Authority was invited to consider the 
documentation and adopt the Framework.  The FBU confirmed that they would 
not support any further legal action against any Authority who had adopted and 
adhered to the Framework. 
 

4. This report sets out a short reminder of the background to this issue, the key 
details from the Memorandum of Understanding and Framework and the advice 
of the Council’s Monitoring Officer of the legal implications going forward.  The 
Committee are recommended to adopt the Framework to mitigate the risk of 
further legal challenge. 

   
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Background to the Issue 
 

5. As part of the reform of the public sector pension schemes following Lord 
Hutton’s review, the Government established the Firefighters Pension Scheme 
2015.  Unlike under the Local Government Scheme where all members of the 
legacy scheme were transferred to the new scheme, and the legacy scheme 
closed for the accrual of new benefits, the Government left open the legacy 
Firefighters Pension Scheme (either the 1992 Scheme or the 2006 Scheme),  
with Members transferring to the 2015 Scheme at different points dependent on 
age.      

    
6. For those members of the 1992 Scheme who were 45 or older as at 1 April 

2012, they were given protected rights to stay in the 1992 Scheme on the 
assumption that they would retire at or before their normal retirement age in the 
1992 Scheme of 55.  For those aged between 41 and 45, they were given 
tapered protection which meant that they transferred to the 2015 Scheme at 
some point between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2022.  Those younger than 41 
as at 1 April 2012 were transferred to the 2015 Scheme with effect from 1 April 
2015. 
 

7. Similar protections existed for those members of the 2006 Scheme, except the 
relevant ages at 1 April 2012 were 50 or older, 46-50 and under 46 reflecting 
the normal retirement age in the 2006 Scheme of 60. 

 
8. The Fire Brigades Union (FBU) did not accept the changes made to the pension 

schemes for their members and alongside the Judges launched legal action to 
challenge the decision.  The 2 test cases were in the name of McCloud for the 
judicial scheme and Sargeant for the Firefighter scheme.  Following a series of 
legal decisions, McCloud and Sargeant finally won their cases against the 
Government reforms on the grounds of unlawful age discrimination, and in 2018 
the Appeal Court refused the Government leave for further appeal.   
 

9. The Government are now in the process of introducing further changes to all the 
public sector pension schemes to remedy the age discrimination.  There initially 
needs to be changes implemented through primary legislation, and the Public 
Service Pensions and Judicial Offices Bill is currently before Parliament.  Once 
enacted, this will allow the Government to publish further secondary legislation 
to address the issues associated with remedying the age discrimination.  For 
the purposes of this report, the primary and secondary legislation have been 
jointly referred to as the Remedying Legislation.   
 

10. The Government have set out the principles behind the remedy arrangements 
within the current Bill.  As of 1 April 2022, all active scheme members 
irrespective of their age will earn all future pension benefits within the 2015 
Scheme.  For the Remedy Period (1 April 2015 to 31 March 2022), all members 
who were in a legacy scheme as at 1 April 2012 and were still an active member 
as at 1 April 2015 (or re-joined after that date where the break in service is 
deemed as a qualifying break under the Regulations) will be placed back in their 
legacy scheme for the full remedy period.  At the point of their retirement, they 

Page 2



will be given the option for their pension benefits covering the remedy period to 
be calculated under either their legacy scheme or the 2015 Scheme.  
 

11. The FBU have successfully challenged Fire and Rescue Authorities who have 
not sought to address the age discrimination in respect of their members in 
advance of the Remedying Legislation.  This is despite the fact that there a 
number of complex issues associated with any proposal, including legal and 
taxation challenges. 
 

12. As a consequence, the LGA on behalf of the Fire and Rescue Authorities in 
England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland, and the FBU on behalf of 
members of the firefighters’ pension schemes have worked together to produce 
a Memorandum of Understanding and Framework to set out an agreed way 
forward as to how to deal with all issues in advance of the Remedying 
Legislation.  In some cases, it has been agreed that due to the complexity of the 
issue, it cannot be addressed until the Remedying Legislation has been 
enacted.  The Framework includes a legal template to be signed by both the 
Fire and Rescue Authority and the Scheme Member setting out the basis of the 
payments made and those payments subject to further review on enactment of 
the Remedying Legislation, and a commitment not to commence or continue 
any legal proceedings in respect of the payments covered by the agreement 
unless as a result of a breach of the agreement itself.    

  
The Memorandum of Understanding and Framework 
 

13. The Memorandum of Understanding sets out the immediate detriment cases in 
scope of the Framework.  These are:  

• current active members of the firefighters’ pension schemes who 
become eligible for retirement and want to take all their benefits under 
their legacy pension scheme 

• current active members who would qualify for an ill-health pension 
under their legacy scheme, but not under the 2015 scheme 

• pensioner members of the scheme who are receiving a pension under 
the 2015 scheme and wish to be treated as having retired under their 
legacy scheme and 

• those who have left active service without an entitlement to an ill-
health pension under the 2015 scheme, but who would have been 
entitled under their legacy scheme.   

 
14. Annex 1 to the Memorandum of Understanding sets out the Framework as to 

how all known issues under the scheme will be dealt with in advance of the 
Remedying Legislation.  These have been based on the principles already 
published by the Government.  The issues covered include payment shortfalls 
in lump sums and pension benefits, the adjustment of employee contributions 
when moving between schemes, the treatment of excess contributions when 
moving back into a legacy scheme which provided for contribution holidays, and 
the review of prior year annual allowance calculations when moving back into a 
legacy scheme. 

 

Page 3



15. For issues around compensation for tax relief foregone on arrears of 
contributions, interest payable/receivable in respect of adjustments of employee 
contributions and the calculation of transfer values payable, the Framework 
confirms a requirement to await Remedying Legislation. 
 

16. The Memorandum of Understanding includes a requirement for the parties to 
meet and review the documentation on a periodical basis, with the first meeting 
no later than five weeks from the initial date of the Memorandum.  This review 
will consider the practicalities of the timescales set out in Annex 2 for the 
Memorandum in light of the number of cases being dealt with, as well as the 
need to amend the Framework itself in light of the progress of the Remedying 
Legislation. 
 

17. The Memorandum of Understanding makes it clear that the Remedying 
Legislation will take precedence over the Framework from the date it is enacted, 
and as such will expire no later than 1 October 2023 which is the latest date set 
by the Government for when they intend to have implemented all the provisions 
required. 
 

18. Annex 2 to the Memorandum sets out the process and timescales to be followed 
in delivering the Framework.  Once the Framework has been adopted, the Fire 
Authority must communicate with all members setting out their rights under the 
Framework and the process to be followed in dealing with any applications.  
These communications must cover both active members and those retired 
under the 2015 Scheme, as well as targeting those who were refused ill-health 
retirement under the 2015 Scheme. 
 

19. Once the Fire Authority has received an application from a member for their 
case to be investigated, they have 14 days to produce an initial response to 
confirm whether the applicant is entitled to a remedy under the Framework.  
Where a case is accepted, the Fire Authority must send out a statement to the 
applicant setting out the benefits and costs associated with a retirement under 
both the 2015 scheme and the relevant legacy scheme, alongside a form inviting 
the applicant to make a choice between receiving their benefits under the 2015 
or their legacy scheme.  This statement must be sent out within 62 days of the 
initial application.  This period can be extended in respect of any time required 
to collect further medical data in cases where the applicant has sought an ill-
health retirement under their legacy scheme. 
 

20. Following receipt of a completed election form, the Fire Authority has 28 days 
to make the appropriate payments to an existing pensioner member.  Payments 
to an active member would follow the normal timescales for the bringing into 
payment of a new pension.  In both cases, payment is subject to the completion 
of a Record of Agreed Compensation/Remedy form signed by both the scheme 
member and the Fire Authority setting out the basis of the payments to be made, 
and those payments subject to review on enactment of the Remedying 
Legislation.  The Member also commits not to commence or continue any legal 
action in respect of the payments covered by the form, except where they 
believe there has been a failure to abide by the terms set out.  Once a Member 
has completed an application, the decision is irreversible. 

Page 4



 
Specific Issues within Oxfordshire 
 

21. From an analysis of the data held, we believe there are currently 8 cases where 
a firefighter has left the scheme where they could make an application for their 
pension benefits to be paid under their legacy scheme.  There are potentially a 
further 12 cases where the firefighter could retire before 31 March 2022 (the last 
day of the remedy period) and who could seek to make an application for their 
pension to be paid under their legacy scheme.  It is anticipated that meeting the 
requirements of the Framework for these cases within the stipulated timeframes 
could be met from within existing resources. 

 
22. At the time of writing this report, there are potential costs involved for the Council 

in adopting the Framework.  The guidance received from the LGA sets out for 
each of the potential types of payment to be made under the framework, 
whether the payment would be a scheme benefit payable from the Pension 
Fund Account (and therefore reclaimable from the grant received from the Home 
Office), or a non-scheme benefit, in which case payment would be by way of 
compensation, to be met from the Fire Service budget.   
 

23. The latter category of payment includes compensation in respect of  
 

• lost interest in underpaid lump sum payments,  

• excess contributions paid, whether as a result of the higher rate in the 
2015 Scheme or in respect of an entitlement to a contribution holiday 
in the legacy scheme, 

• any excess annual allowance charge paid by the Member 

• any unauthorised payment charge payable by the Member.  
 

24. The LGA is currently in discussion with the Government to ensure that all Fire 
and Rescue Authorities are properly compensated for these costs, which have 
only arisen as a result of the age discrimination ruling.  The potential figures 
involved are difficult to estimate as they are dependent on the individual 
circumstances of each case, including decisions to be made by the member in 
respect of amount of pension commuted to lump sums. 

 
25. There are also potential costs to be chargeable to the Fire Service budget 

related to the need to make changes to the pension software to deal with the 
requirement to provide figures under both the 2015 Scheme and the relevant 
legacy scheme going forward to all members in scope of the Remedying 
Legislation.  The LGA are also in discussions with the Government seeking full 
compensation for any costs incurred. 
 

26. It should be noted that these issues/costs are also likely to be incurred if the 
Committee does not adopt the Framework, as the Courts have made it clear 
that the issue of age discrimination must be addressed, and the FBU have made 
it clear that they will seek further court action where a Fire and Rescue Authority 
does not adopt the Framework.  In such cases, the Fire Service budget would 
also be responsible for meeting any costs associated with the legal challenge.  
The LGA have made it clear that they would be unable to support any Authority 

Page 5



who wishes to work outside the Framework either through the provision of 
further advice, or by supporting Funds to work together on a collective defence.      

 
Views of the Director of Law and Governance 
 

27. The Local Government Association (LGA) and the Fire Brigade Union (FBU) 
have agreed a framework for the handling of immediate detriment claims whilst 
awaiting the enactment of secondary remedying legislation.  The Memorandum 
of Understanding and proposed Framework outline arrangements for dealing 
with unlawful age discrimination identified by the Court of Appeal, in the 2015 
reforms to the Judicial and Firefighters’ pension schemes. 

 
28. The proposed arrangements being a mechanism to provide an interim remedy 

whilst also preventing the issuing of claims prior to the introduction of secondary 
legislation.  Not to accept the suggested proposal will leave the authority subject 
to claims from fire fighters for age discrimination, damages and costs in an 
already established area of law that supports such causes of action. 

 
 

 
 
Anita Bradley    Lorna Baxter   Rob MacDougall 
Director of Law and Governance Director of Finance  Chief Fire Officer 

 
 
 
 

Contact Officers 
Sukdave Ghuman   Sean Collins   Grahame Mitchell 

07554 103465  07775 827268
    

 
November 2021 

Page 6


	Agenda
	4 Age Discrimination Cases in the Firefighters Pension Scheme

